
  People Select Committee 
 Agenda 

 
 
Date: 
Monday 8 December 2025 at 2.00 pm 
 
Venue: 
Council Chamber, Dunedin House, Columbia Drive; , Thornaby, Stockton-on-Tees TS17 
6BJ 
 
 
Cllr Marilyn Surtees (Chair) 
Cllr Paul Weston (Vice-Chair) 
 
Cllr Ian Dalgarno, Cllr John Gardner, Cllr Niall Innes, Cllr Eileen Johnson, Cllr David 
Reynard, Cllr Hugo Stratton and Cllr Barry Woodhouse 
 
 

Agenda 
 

1.  Evacuation Procedure (Pages 7 - 10) 
 

2.  Apologies for Absence  
 

3.  Declarations of Interest  
 

4.  Minutes (Pages 11 - 12) 
 
To approve the minutes of the last meeting held on 3rd November 2025 
 

5.  Scrutiny Review of Partnership Working in Early Help (Pages 13 - 44) 
 
To consider and agree the draft final report. 
 

6.  Chair's Update and Select Committee Work Programme 2025-2026(Pages 45 - 46) 
 

Page 1



  People Select Committee 
 Agenda 

 
 
Members of the Public - Rights to Attend Meeting 
 
With the exception of any item identified above as containing exempt or confidential information under the 
Local Government Act 1972 Section 100A(4), members of the public are entitled to attend this meeting 
and/or have access to the agenda papers. 
 
Persons wishing to obtain any further information on this meeting, including the opportunities available   for 
any member of the public to speak at the meeting; or for details of access to the meeting for disabled people, 
please. 
 
Contact:  Scrutiny Officer Michelle Gunn on email michelle.gunn@stockton.gov.uk 

Page 2



  Key – Declarable interests are :- 
  

●  Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI’s) 
●  Other Registerable Interests (ORI’s) 
●  Non Registerable Interests (NRI’s) 
 

Members – Declaration of Interest Guidance 

 

 
 

Page 3



   
 
 

Table 1 - Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

Subject Description 

Employment,  
office, trade,  
profession or  
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain 

Sponsorship 

Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the council) 
made to the councillor during the previous 12-month period for expenses incurred by 
him/her in carrying out his/her duties as a councillor, or towards his/her election 
expenses. 
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning 
of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts 

Any contract made between the councillor or his/her spouse or civil partner or the 
person with whom the councillor is living as if they were spouses/civil partners (or a 
firm in which such person is a partner, or an incorporated body of which such person 
is a director* or  
 
a body that such person has a beneficial interest in the securities of*) and the council 
—  
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; 
and  
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land and 
property 

Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the council.  
‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does 
not give the councillor or his/her spouse or civil partner or the person with whom the 
councillor is living as if they were spouses/ civil partners (alone or jointly with another) 
a right to occupy or to receive income. 

Licences 
Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the council for a 
month or longer. 

Corporate 
tenancies 

Any tenancy where (to the councillor’s knowledge)—  
(a) the landlord is the council; and  
(b) the tenant is a body that the councillor, or his/her spouse or civil partner or the 
person with whom the councillor is living as if they were spouses/ civil partners is a 
partner of or a director* of or has a beneficial interest in the securities* of. 

Securities 

Any beneficial interest in securities* of a body where—     
(a) that body (to the councillor’s   knowledge) has a place of business or   land in the 
area of the council; and     
(b) either—     
(i) the total nominal value of the   securities* exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that body; or     
(ii)      if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in which the councillor, or his/ her spouse or civil 
partner or the person with whom the councillor is living as if they were spouses/civil 
partners have a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class. 

* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and provident society. 
 
* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a collective investment 
scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any 
description, other than money deposited with a building society. 
 
 
 

Page 4



   
 
 

 

Table 2 – Other Registerable Interest 

You must register as an Other Registrable Interest: 
 
a) any unpaid directorships 
 
b) any body of which you are a member or are in a position of general control or management and to which 
you are nominated or appointed by your authority  
 
c) any body  
 
(i) exercising functions of a public nature  
 
(ii) directed to charitable purposes or  
 
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy (including any political 
party or trade union) of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



 

Council Chamber, Dunedin House 
Evacuation Procedure & Housekeeping 
 
Entry 
 
Entry to the Council Chamber is via the Council Chamber entrance indicated on the map 
below.  
 

 
 

In the event of an emergency alarm activation, everyone should immediately start to leave 
their workspace by the nearest available signed Exit route.  
 
The emergency exits are located via the doors on either side of the raised seating area at 
the front of the Council Chamber.  
 
Fires, explosions, and bomb threats are among the occurrences that may require the 
emergency evacuation of Dunedin House. Continuous sounding and flashing of the Fire 
Alarm is the signal to evacuate the building or upon instruction from a Fire Warden or a 
Manager.  
 
The Emergency Evacuation Assembly Point is in the overflow car park located across the 
road from Dunedin House.  
 
The allocated assembly point for the Council Chamber is: D2 
 
Map of the Emergency Evacuation Assembly Point - the overflow car park: 

Page 7

Agenda Item 1



 

 
All occupants must respond to the alarm signal by immediately initiating the evacuation 
procedure. 
 
When the Alarm sounds: 
 

1. stop all activities immediately. Even if you believe it is a false alarm or practice 
drill, you MUST follow procedures to evacuate the building fully. 
 

2. follow directional EXIT signs to evacuate via the nearest safe exit in a calm and 
orderly manner. 
 

o do not stop to collect your belongings 
o close all doors as you leave 

 
3. steer clear of hazards. If evacuation becomes difficult via a chosen route because 

of smoke, flames or a blockage, re-enter the Chamber (if safe to do so). Continue 
the evacuation via the nearest safe exit route. 
 

4. proceed to the Evacuation Assembly Point. Move away from the building. Once 
you have exited the building, proceed to the main Evacuation Assembly 
Point immediately - located in the East Overflow Car Park. 
 

o do not assemble directly outside the building or on any main roadway, to 
ensure access for Emergency Services. 
 

Page 8



 

5. await further instructions. 
 

o do not re-enter the building under any circumstances without an “all 
clear” which should only be given by the Incident Control Officer/Chief Fire 
Warden, Fire Warden or Manager. 

o do not leave the area without permission. 
o ensure all colleagues and visitors are accounted for. Notify a Fire Warden 

or Manager immediately if you have any concerns 
 
Toilets 
 
Toilets are located immediately outside the Council Chamber, accessed via the door at 
the back of the Chamber.  
 
Water Cooler 
 
A water cooler is available at the rear of the Council Chamber. 
 
Microphones 
 
During the meeting, members of the Committee, and officers in attendance, will have 
access to a microphone. Please use the microphones, when invited to speak by the Chair, 
to ensure you can be heard by the Committee and those in attendance at the meeting. 
 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



People Select Committee 

 
A meeting of People Select Committee was held on Monday 3rd November 2025. 
 
Present: Cllr Marilyn Surtees (Chair), Cllr Paul Weston (Vice-Chair), Cllr 

John Coulson (sub Cllr John Gardner), Cllr Niall Innes and Cllr 
Hugo Stratton 

 
Officers: Sam Dixon, Rebecca Saunders-Thompson (Regeneration and 

Inclusive Growth), Kellie Wigley (Children Services), Junita 
Agyapong and Michelle Gunn (Corporate Services) 

 
Also in attendance:   
 
Apologies: Cllr Ian Dalgarno, Cllr John Gardner, Cllr David Reynard, and 

Cllr Barry Woodhouse 
 

PEO/32/25 Evacuation Procedure 
 
The Committee noted the evacuation and housekeeping procedure.  
 

PEO/33/25 Declarations of Interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

PEO/34/25 Minutes 
 
AGREED the minutes of the meeting held on 6th October 2025 be confirmed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair.  
 

PEO/35/25 Progress Update - Scrutiny Review of Cost of Living Response 
 
The Committee considered a briefing report providing an overview of the key projects 
undertaken by the Fairer Stockton-on-Tees and Community Engagement team, in 
partnership with other Council teams and external stakeholders. This was requested 
following a progress update in May where recommendation two, regarding the 
provision of pre-loved uniforms, remained incomplete.  
 
The team had coordinated preloved school uniforms donations over two summers, 
arranging the successful Council’s Summer Here to Help events and working in 
partnership with Thirteen and Family Hubs. They were involved in distributing 600 
backpacks filled with school essentials as part of the Junction Multibank ‘Back to 
School’ campaign. The Second Dance Prom Project had collected over 200 preloved 
outfits and held the first of a series of catwalk events to relieve the financial pressure 
of attending prom events. Phase two of the Free School Meals Auto-Enrolment 
commenced in July 2025.  
 
AGREED that the progress update be noted and no further updates required. 
 

PEO/36/25 Progress Update - Scrutiny Review of Disabled Facilities Grants 
 
The Committee considered a progress update including assessments of progress 
following implementation of the recommendation from the Scrutiny Review of Disabled 

Page 1Page 11

Agenda Item 4



Facilities Grants. This was the first time an update had been presented to the 
Committee and one of the actions had been assessed as fully achieved, while the 
remaining were on track except for recommendation 8 regarding flat pack extensions 
which had slipped.  
 
A report was noted for recommendation two regarding the Impact on Health and 
Social Care, which was based on information gathered by Bristol University in 
conjunction with Foundations in 2024 and reflected the situation in Stockton-on-Tees. 
The Committee therefore did not believe that a further study was required and the 
agreed that the recommendation be assessed as fully achieved.  
 
An update on the conversations with Thirteen Group was noted, which related to 
recommendations four and five. Future working arrangements had been proposed 
which would ensure that assessments and adaptations requests would be forwarded 
by Occupational Therapists direct to Thirteen to evaluate and determine approval and 
a process map being drafted which would be shared with all ward members. 
Adaptations for Thirteen tenants would be carried out by Thirteen unless it was 
beyond their capacity, e.g. extension, whereby Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council 
would carry out the works and reclaim the costs. Monthly meetings would be held to 
monitor Thirteen’s waiting lists, budget commitments and expenditure. The DFG team 
were now working with Tees Valley Home Finder to match residents who needed 
adaptations and wished to move with properties that had these. While it was 
acknowledged that the conversations had been slower than anticipated, Members 
were pleased with outcomes of these. 
 
The Committee commented on the hard work that had taken place by officers to 
implement the recommendations which, although ongoing, had already made 
improvements to systems and impacted positively on residents’ lives. Members 
thanked all the teams involved. 
 
AGREED that Progress Update be noted, and the assessment of progress be 
confirmed. The next progress update would be presented in six months.  
 

PEO/37/25 Chair's Update and Select Committee Work Programme 2025 - 2026 
 
Consideration was given to the Committee’s current work programme.  
 
AGREED the work programme be noted.  
 
 
Chair:  ..............................................................................................  

Page 2Page 12



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

Scrutiny Review of Partnership 
Working in Early Help 
People Select Committee, December 2025 

 
Page 13

Agenda Item 5



1 

 

 1 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

  

Page 14



2 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Contents 
Select Committee – Membership .............................................................................................. 3 

Acknowledgements ................................................................................................................... 3 

Forward ...................................................................................................................................... 4 

Original Brief .............................................................................................................................. 5 

1.0 Executive Summary ............................................................................................................. 7 
Recommendations................................................................................................................................................ 9 

2.0 Introduction ........................................................................................................................ 11 

3.0 Background ........................................................................................................................ 11 

4.0 Evidence ............................................................................................................................. 12 
Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council Early Help Offer ......................................................................................... 12 
School Support and Referrals to Services ......................................................................................................... 16 
Social Care Assessment & Response................................................................................................................ 17 
Family Action ...................................................................................................................................................... 18 
Harrogate and District Foundation Trust 0 – 19 Services .................................................................................. 19 
PiTstop Cleveland Police ................................................................................................................................... 20 
Catalyst ............................................................................................................................................................... 21 
Children and Young People Partnership Workshops ......................................................................................... 22 
Family and User Feedback ................................................................................................................................ 23 
Learning from other Local Authorities ................................................................................................................ 25 

5.0 Conclusion ..................................................................................................................... 26 
Recommendations.............................................................................................................................................. 27 

Appendix 1 ................................................................................................................................. 2 

Glossary of Terms ..................................................................................................................... 2 

 
 

 

  

Page 15



3 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Select Committee – Membership 
Councillor Marilyn Surtees (Chair) 

Councillor Paul Weston (Vice-Chair) 

Councillor Ian Dalgarno 

Councillor John Gardner 

Councillor Niall Innes 

Councillor Eileen Johnson  

Councillor David Reynard 

Councillor Hugo Stratton 

Councillor Barry Woodhouse 

 

Acknowledgements 
The Select Committee thank the following contributors to this review: 

Kellie Wigley – Head of Service, Early Help, Youth Justice and Youth Support 

Aishah Waithe – Senior Project Manager, Early Intervention and Prevention  

Hazel Clark – Service Lead, Family Support 

John Lathaen – Service Lead, Youth Justice and Youth Support 

Louise Nixon – Service Lead, Children’s Response and Assessment 

Mandie Rowlands – Service Lead, School Support and Sufficiency 

Jane Smith – Head of Service, Children’s Strategy and Commissioning 

Detective Sergeant Cheryl Hall – Cleveland Police  

Sarah Massiter and Aimee Preston – Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust 

Emma Crawford – Family Action  

Lucy Owens and Marc Besford – Catalyst 

Emma Zenaj – Stockton Parent Carer Forum 

 

Contact Officer 

NAME: Michelle Gunn, Scrutiny Officer 

Tel: 01642 524987 Email: michelle.gunn@stockton.gov.uk  

Page 16

mailto:michelle.gunn@stockton.gov.uk


4 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Forward 
 
[Add in] 

Cllr Marilyn Surtees, Chair 

 

  

Councillor Marilyn Surtees 

Chair – People Select Committee 

Councillor Paul Weston 

Vice-Chair – People Select Committee 

 

  

Page 17



5 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Original Brief 
 

Which of our strategic corporate objectives does this topic address?  
 
Early Help focusses on support and interventions for children and their families when needed 
most therefore this review will contribute to priority one – the best start in life to achieve big 
ambition. In particular it will contribute to the following key moves: 

 

• Giving children and young people the best possible start, in an inclusive community where 
everyone can thrive 

• A safe community for all children and young people 
 

The review will also contribute to priority two – health and resilient communities, key move 
ensuring happy and healthy lives for all. 

 
What are the main issues and overall aim of this review? 
 
Early Help (EH) offers support to children and their families who require help with a range of 
presenting issues including behaviour, family relationships, problems at school, budgets or debt, 
children’s routine or other difficulties they may be experiencing.  

The Department for Education have recently published Families First Partnership Programme 
(FFP), which is the start of the National reforms and expectations on Local Authorities.  

The vision of the programme  

The FFP programme will support safeguarding partners to bring together targeted early help, 
child in need, and multi-agency child protection into a seamless system of help, support and 
protection. This includes services and workforces, such as family support workers, social workers 
and other specialist and alternatively qualified practitioners, coming together to support families.  

By targeted early help, child in need and child protection, we mean: 

• Targeted Early Help: children and families with multiple and/or complex needs that require 
a plan to be in place and a lead practitioner appointed; 

• Children in Need (Section 17, Children Act 1989): a general duty for local authorities to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children within their area who are in need or are 
disabled, and promote the upbringing of such children by their families by providing a 
range and level of services appropriate to those children’s needs; 

• Child protection (Section 47): the duty on the local authorities to investigate where they 
have reasonable cause to suspect that a child who lives, or is found, in their area is 
suffering, or is likely to suffer, significant harm.  

This review will aim to gain a greater understanding of the effectiveness of the partnership and 
Early Help offer across the partners 
The Committee will undertake the following key lines of enquiry: 

• Are families getting the right support at the right time to prevent escalation of needs?  
• Consideration of No Further Action (NFA) rate from Statutory Assessment 

Page 18



6 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

• What is the local authority’s and partnership offer across EH?  
• What is the demand on external partnerships to deliver EH interventions?  
• How effective and strong is the partnership offer? 
• How accessible are services?  
• How clear is the offer for both professionals and families, and how easy is it to navigate?  
• How effective are information sharing protocols across the partnership? 

 
Provide an initial view as to how this review could lead to efficiencies, improvements 
and/or transformation: 
 
This review will contribute to greater understanding of interventions and approaches which are 
effective at supporting children and families at the earliest opportunity. The review will also 
identify where partnership working can be improved. 

 

 

  

Page 19



7 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.0 Executive Summary 
 

1.1. This report outlines the findings and recommendations following the Committee’s review of 
Partnership Working in Early Help. Early Help ensures that families receive help and support at the 
earliest opportunity to improve outcomes for children and young people. It seeks to prevent 
situations reaching crisis point, that may then result in statutory interventions.  

1.2. The Department for Education (DfE) published the Families First Partnership Programme (FPP) in 
March 2025, which is the start of national reforms and expectations of Local Authorities. The 
programme supports safeguarding partners to bring together targeted Early Help, child in need, 
and multi-agency child protection into a seamless system of help, support, and protection. This 
includes services and workforces, such as family support workers, social workers, and other 
specialist and alternatively qualified practitioner, coming together to support families. Statutory 
interventions and protections will remain with and be provided by the Council. Increased 
partnership working, with Early Help being everyone’s business, will be an improved offer for 
families ensuring they are receiving the right support earlier. 

1.3. The aim of the review was to gain a greater understanding of what Early Help is in Stockton-on-
Tees, as well as identify where partnership working can be improved, and identify key actions to 
improve and deliver Early Help. Contributions have been received from officers in Early Help, Social 
Care, and School Support services within the Council as well as several partners, namely 
Cleveland Police, Family Action, Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust, Catalyst, and 
Stockton Parent and Carer’s Forum. A Family Hub focus group was utilised to hear users’ views 
and experiences of accessing Early Help. Additionally, Members attended two of the Children and 
Young People Partnership Workshops, which is focused on co-producing an Early Help Strategy, 
taking a partnership approach to working with families across Stockton-on-Tees. The Committee 
also received feedback from officer visits to two Ofsted Outstanding rated Local Authorities, 
Lincolnshire County Council and Sunderland City Council.  

1.4. The Council’s current Early Help offer includes a wide range of universal and targeted support for 
families via a range of services including School Support, the Children’s Hub, or Social Workers. 
These include: 
• Family Hubs are offering a range of support for families with a focus on prevention to reduce the need 

for statutory intervention. Programmes are reviewed every six weeks to ensure they fit the needs of the 
community.  

• Family Solutions support families with complex and multiple needs, carrying out comprehensive 
assessments and tailored intervention planning, and using the Team Around the Family (TAF) model of 
working. 

• The Therapeutic Team offers services to children and families who are already active to Children 
Services 

• Family Group Conferencing is a family led decision making process which enables children and their 
families to find solutions to their difficulties and challenges.  

• Targeted Youth Support works with families with children aged 11-17, taking a Whole Family Approach 
and provides additional support to Social Care.  

• Youth Support works with Children aged 11 – 18 years old who experience low level difficulties, as well 
as providing an Appropriate Adult service and Missing From Home conversations.  

Page 20



8 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

• The Turnaround programme works with children who are arrested but not charged, providing them with 
better skills to manage problematic situations.  

• School Support offer a range of Early Help services, with resources aligned to where they are most 
needed. This includes providing information, advice, and signposting to services as well as leading on 
Team Around the School approach bringing together partners to identify children and young people that 
need support and provide interventions early.  

1.5. The offer demonstrates a strong commitment to prevention and early intervention.  

1.6. In addition, Early Help services are being provided by a wide range of organisations including 
health colleagues, the Voluntary Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) sector, and other 
partners. This ranges from universal, preventative, and targeted support and include, but not limited 
to: 

• Family Outreach Service provided by Family Action which is delivering a range of support such as 
practical and emotional support, family routines, debt management, budgeting, housing and benefit 
processes, accessing grants, building self-confidence, reducing social isolation etc. 

• Community engagement projects. 

• Health Visitors. 

• School Nursing. 

• Public Health initiatives e.g. Growing Well, Growing Healthy 

• Youth United Stockton Alliance (YUSA), a collective who deliver youth provision and ensure there are 
targeted and focused interventions to support children and young people.   

1.7. Arrangements with different organisations include the strategic partnership held with Family Action 
as well as commissioning services such as the Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust 0 – 
19 services, both of whom gave evidence to the Committee for the review, along with Catalyst, the 
strategic infrastructure organisation for the VCSE sector. It has been highlighted the borough of 
Stockton-on-Tees is an inclusive area to work with and that partners have good working 
relationships not only with Children Services and the Family Hubs but also with other partners 
across the Borough.   

1.8. The Committee believe the Family Action strategic partnership is a good example of a partnership 
approach to service delivery. It has allowed for improved information sharing through the use of 
shared information systems and a mutually shared risk-register. There is also a focus on joint 
planning and implantation, avoiding duplication of services, and ensuring that the right guidance 
and support is offered to families. This benefits the outcomes for families, preventing delay and 
duplication in information gathering. Other benefits include Family Action’s status as a national 
charity and their connections with the wider community enabling them to access funding the 
Council cannot apply for and seek out other support opportunities for the families they work with.  

1.9. Family Hubs are seen as accessible by both service users and partners, therefore an important 
way of providing information and support for families when they need it. The co-location of services 
in Billingham Hub is working well, which includes midwife, health visiting, and school nursing 
services. The online offer from the Hubs can be improved with issue-based information and links 
to professional services on the Facebook page.  

1.10. Multiagency working, including Team Around the School services and Team Around the Family, 
bring together all professionals to offer a comprehensive support system for families, providing 
support/interventions at the earliest opportunity.  

Page 21



9 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.11. The high level (66.2%) of No Further Action taken following Social Care Assessments suggests 
that clarity is needed on the triage process at the front door to ensure that referrals are forwarded 
to Early Help services rather than Social Care. Professionals who are already working with families 
and have built up relationships with them may be best placed to offer advice and support without 
the need to refer to the Children’s Hub (Chub). Training and support are needed to ensure that 
professionals have the confidence to lead on Early Help. PiTstop, a multi-agency early intervention 
to triage referrals screened and assessed by Cleveland Police as not meeting Social Care 
thresholds and share information from the Police with partners, has shown measurable success in 
reducing the demand on statutory services and improving outcomes for families.  

1.12. Inconsistent communication, duplication in services, and gaps in data sharing protocols have been 
reported, which hinder the effectiveness of partnerships and lead to partners working in silos with 
the same families. The Committee believes that a greater understanding of the different services 
available along with a more joined up approach and access to information systems between 
services is therefore an area for improvement. This could include one joint assessment form, a 
shared platform for data sharing, joint accountability framework and responsibilities, shared service 
impact and evaluation review, and joint training. Expanding outreach groups such as fathers and 
families with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) is also critical.  

1.13. Visits to Lincolnshire County Council and Sunderland City Council by officers supported this view, 
highlighting how Early Help can be a shared responsibility with external partners e.g. “Early Help 
is everyone’s business”, with investment in training tools, and clear frameworks to equip partners 
to confidently lead on and support children and families. In these Authorities, increasing external 
delivery has reduced pressure on statutory and targeted services, allowing the local authority to 
focus on the most complex cases. It is acknowledged that this is a cultural change that has taken 
a long period of time to embed in the Authorities.  

1.14. Positive feedback from families endorses the value of the services currently provided, but raised 
areas of growth such as better signposting, more inclusive programmes and improved online 
resources. The offer for SEND families has been highlighted as an area for improvement, with 
training needed for professionals to understand the needs of SEND children to better equip them 
to offer the right support, as well as ensuring that support is offered earlier, and there is increased 
and purposeful communication between families and services, making sure this is well co-
ordinated.  

1.15. The review has provided a comprehensive understanding of the Early Help landscape in Stockton-
on-Tees. The review’s recommendations focus on strengthening governance structures, improving 
communication and accessibility of services, and investing in joint training and shared systems. By 
embedding the principle of shared responsibility across partners and continuing to co-produce 
strategies with families and partners, including the VCSE sector, Stockton-on-Tees can build a 
more integrated and responsive Early Help system that ensures children and families receive the 
right support at the right time. This will contribute to the broader goals of fostering resilient 
communities and giving children the best possible start in life.   

Recommendations 

1.16. The Committee recommends that:  

1. A culture of shared responsibilities across the partnership is promoted to ensure that the 
principle of Early Help being “everyone’s business” is embedded within schools, health, and 
the voluntary sector.  

Page 22



10 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

2. The re-design of the front door to Children’s Services embeds an Early Help focus, enabling 
timely outcomes and ensuring families are able to access the right support at the right time.  

3. Advice and training are developed for schools and other partners referring to the Children’s 
Hub, to ensure families who could be better supported by Early Help services are forwarded 
to the most appropriate service for help and reduce demand on the front door. 

4. A programme of training, tools and professional guidance is developed to support non-local 
authority practitioners in holding lead professional roles with children and families. 

5. The design of a multi-agency data impact assessment, combined privacy notice, and data 
sharing systems to ensure effective and timely communication between the Council and its 
partners is supported. 

6. A robust data collection system is established to measure partnership delivery of Early Help 
services. 

7. The updated online offer is relaunched, promoting it to partners, schools, and residents. Self-
navigation tools should also be introduced to empower families to access early, universal 
support without needing formal referral. 

8. Partners are encouraged to utilise Family Hubs, basing and/or providing services in the 
venues where appropriate to ensure that these are accessible to children and families. 

9. Further support is provided for partners to understand the needs of SEND families to enable 
them to offer appropriate Early Help service to these families. 

 

 

 

  

Page 23



11 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

2.0 Introduction 
 

2.1. This report outlines the findings and recommendations following the People Select Committee’s 
scrutiny review of Partnership Working in Early Help.  

2.2. Early help ensures that help and support is provided to families at the earliest opportunity to 
improve outcomes for children and young people and prevents situations reaching crisis point that 
may then require a statutory response and intervention. Research in Practice, 2022, notes that 
“The broad concept of Early Help is to act early to improve the lives of children, young people and 
families now and in the future.” 

2.3. The review aimed to gain a greater understanding of the current effectiveness of the partnership 
working and Early Help offer within and across our partnerships. It considered where partnership 
working can be improved to deliver Early Help, and the Committee’s work forms part of the 
preparation and development for the Families First Partnership (FFP) Programme reforms.   

2.4. The Committee undertook the following key lines of enquiry: 

• Are families getting the right support at the right time to prevent escalation of needs?  
• Consideration of No Further Action (NFA) rate from Statutory Assessment 
• What is the local authority’s and partnership offer across EH?  
• What is the demand on external partnerships to deliver EH interventions?  
• How effective and strong is the partnership offer? 
• How accessible are services?  
• How clear is the offer for both professionals and families, and how easy is it to navigate?  
• How effective are information sharing protocols across the partnership? 

2.5. Contributions were sought and subsequently received from several Stockton-on-Tees Borough 
Council (SBC) department including Family Hubs, Youth Support, Social Care, and Education. 
Contributions were also received from several partners including Cleveland Police, Family Action, 
Harrogate & District NHS Foundation Trust (HDFT), Catalyst and Stockton Parent and Carer 
Forum.  

 

3.0 Background 
 

3.1 The legal framework for Early Help is covered by several Acts, which include: 

• Article 19 of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) places a duty on states 
to protect children from all forms of maltreatment or exploitation and to provide support to children and 
their carers to prevent and/or reduce the incidence of maltreatment.  

• The Children Act 1989 is the foundation of child welfare policy and practice in England. (amended).  
• Section 17 – ‘child in need’ - reinforced coordination of work with agencies engaged in preventative and 

supportive work with children and families  
• Children Act 2004 set out legal framework for multi-agency ‘cooperation to improve well-being’.  
• Working Together 2023 –Independent Review/Family Help Reforms.  Children’s Well-being & Schools 

Bill in Nov 24.   

3.2 The Department for Education (DfE) published the Families First Partnership (FFP) Programme in 
March 2025, which is the start of national reforms and expectations of Local Authorities. The 
programme supports safeguarding partners to bring together targeted Early Help, child in need, 

Page 24



12 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

and multi-agency child protection into a seamless system of help, support, and protection. This 
includes services and workforces, such as Family Support Workers, Social Workers and other 
specialist and alternatively qualified practitioners, coming together to support families. Statutory 
interventions and protections will remain with and be provided by the Council, and increased 
partnership working, with Early Help being everyone’s business, will be an improved offer for 
families ensuring they are receiving the right support earlier. 

3.3 The programme comprises three key reform strands: implementing Family Help, Multi-agency Child 
Protection Teams, and Family Group Decision Making (FGDM). Within the Family Help strand there 
are four elements: Multi-disciplinary Family Help Team, Family Help Lead Practitioner (FHLP), 
Family Help assessments and plans, and Front Door Arrangement/moving towards an integrated 
front door (IFD).  

3.4 The Council has set up an implementation programme, with governance in place and a Stage One 
delivery plan submitted to the DfE. A needs assessment has been completed to understand current 
and future needs of children, young people, and families to inform all aspects of service design and 
reshaping. It identified that the greatest need for family help and support is during pregnancy and 
the first year of a child’s life and at age 10 – 15 years. The next steps are the design of delivery 
models for the Integrated Front Door, and Multi Agency Child Protection team.  A detailed stage 
two delivery plan was due to be submitted to the DfE outlining the implementation of the reforms 
and spend in December 2025.  

3.5 Further background information in relation to this topic includes: 

• Early Help System Guide https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/supporting-families-early-help-
system-guide  

• Families First Partnership Programme https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/families-first-
partnership-programme  

• Scrutiny review of Narrowing the Gap in Educational Attainment  
https://moderngov.stockton.gov.uk/documents/s8755/Select%20Committee%20Report.pdf 

 

4.0 Evidence 
 

Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council Early Help Offer 

4.1. Referrals to Early Help come in from multiple sources, including schools, GP’s, Police, Voluntary 
Services, and parents themselves to the Children’s Hub (CHUB) which acts as a “front door” for all 
referrals. The CHUB is a joint service between Stockton-on-Tees and Hartlepool Borough Councils. 
A decision was made at Cabinet in June 2025 to bring this service in-house, and work is being 
carried out to deliver this service via the Powering Our Future Transformation Programme, aligning 
with the FFP reforms to move towards an IFD.  

4.2. Discussions take place with the referrers and families and then referrals are triaged to determine 
the most appropriate support, either to Universal Services, Targeted Early Help Services in house, 
or partner agencies. In some cases, advice and guidance is given.  

4.3. The service received 1,311 referrals between November 2024 – January 2025. Of these, 708 
referrals were received and processed by Family Hubs and School Support, with 312 external 
referrals processed by the Early Help front door and 311 by CHUB. This includes those referrals 
given advice and information or signposted to the most appropriate agency or service for support, 

Page 25

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/supporting-families-early-help-system-guide
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/supporting-families-early-help-system-guide
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/families-first-partnership-programme
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/families-first-partnership-programme
https://moderngov.stockton.gov.uk/documents/s8755/Select%20Committee%20Report.pdf


13 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

as well as those being supported. The services receive slightly higher requests for support around 
pre-school holidays.  

 

Family Hubs 

4.4. There are four Family Hubs in the Borough offering a range of support for families with children 
aged 0 – 19 with a focus on prevention to reduce the need for statutory intervention. They aim to: 

• Be a place parents can come to seek support or signposting to other services.  

• Be a one stop shop. 

• Enhanced integrated working and co-location. 

• Empower families to access support. 

• Be accessible support regardless of need. 

• Develop trusting relationship with parents/carers.  

4.5. The Family Hub offers a broad range of evidence-based parenting programmes, which are listed 
at appendix 1. The Nurturing course is the most popular programme provided. Other courses 
include: the Antenatal Nurturing, which is additional to the midwife led antenatal course however a 
midwife attends the Family Hub session on the final week; and the Empowering Parents 
Empowering Communities (EPEC) programmes that Parent Volunteers help to deliver bringing 
their personal experiences. The Hub facilitates and hosts an ‘All Together For You’ session held at 
the Family Hubs once a month, rotating between the four venues, bringing together all the partners 
to give advice and information to families. This allows families to receive all information and advice 
in one space at the same time. 

4.6. Families can attend as many programmes as they wish at the Family Hubs and may enrol on one 
programme after completing another. Similarly, they may choose to attend a course when their 
child is younger and need specific support, then return for different support, advice, and 
programmes when their child is older. The time that families receive services from the Family Hubs 
therefore is dependent on their needs.  

 

Family Solutions 

4.7. There are three Family Solutions Teams co-located within the Family Hubs to support families with 
multiple needs. They work with other services to co-ordinate a package of support around the 
family’s identified needs, carrying out comprehensive assessments to understand need and 
tailoring bespoke plans to ensure those needs can be met. There is emphasis on holding regular 
Team Around the Family (TAF) meetings, to ensure that progress can be reviewed and aligned, 
dependent on family need and changes. The team can provide support with a range of needs, 
including:  

• Routines and boundaries 

• Safe parenting 

• Home conditions 

• Drug and alcohol misuse 

Page 26



14 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

• Domestic abuse 

• Housing  

• Debt 

• Behavioural management 

• Parental conflict 

• Family Network 

• Educational support/exclusion 

4.8. Close review of family circumstances happens during supervision, to ensure that the most 
appropriate support is in place and if a family’s circumstances change and needs escalate, 
discussions are held with Social Care to ensure that the most appropriate service is identified to 
support the family.  

4.9. In June 2025 there were 357 children, and 173 families open to the three teams. On average there 
have been 91 new children opened each month across the teams over the last year.  

4.10. As noted in the table below, referrals to Family Solutions come from a variety of sources, however 
the majority are received from Social Workers within the Council who, following their involvement 
with a family, have assessed them as being in a position to step-down to Family Solutions. The 
second biggest referrer is the CHUB, who may deem that a referral they have received for a 
Statutory response requires a lower-level intervention.  

 

Therapeutic Team 

4.11. The Therapeutic Team offers a range of therapeutic intervention to children and families who are 
already active to Children Services, which can support and compliment other interventions in place. 
Over the 12 months beginning June 2024 the team received 216 referrals and worked with 148 
children, young people, and adults. Not all referrals are considered appropriate for the team and in 
such circumstance advice and support is provided as well as signposting to alternative provision 

Page 27



15 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

with the local area. In June 2025 there were 24 children, young people, and families on their waiting 
list.  

 

Family Group Conferencing (FGC) 

4.12. Family Group Conferencing (FGC) is a family led decision making process which enables children 
and their families find solutions to their difficulties and challenges in a relaxed and creative way, 
building on family’s strengths and networks.  

4.13. The team work with families from across Children’s Social Care and Early Help, with many 
preparation visits undertaken to ensure the family understand the concerns raised, providing them 
opportunity to consider how they can support. The team then bring the family and their network 
together to identify how they will manage the risks/concerns as a family moving forward. Research 
shows that families are much more invested with the plan as they have been central to developing 
this.  

4.14. Over the 12 months beginning June 2024 the team successfully worked with and supported 97 
families to create family plans, which from start to finish takes approximately 6-8 weeks to complete.  

4.15. This is similar to the FGDM required in the FFP reforms.  

 

Targeted Youth Support 

4.16. Targeted Youth Support work with families with children aged 11 – 18 years to reduce children’s 
vulnerability to harm outside the home, for example exploitation and carrying knives. The team also 
educate both parents and children on online safety and effective communication in managing the 
risks. In June 2025, the team were working with 50 children (43 families).  

4.17. The team takes a Whole Family Approach and co-ordinate a Team Around the Family meeting to 
bring together professionals. They work with children with complex needs, carrying out 
assessments and planning for intervention, and co-work with children open to Social Care to 
provide additional support when required. 

 

Youth Support  

4.18. Youth Support work with children aged 11 – 18 years old who are experiencing difficulties such as 
low self-esteem, carrying out brief assessment and planning for intervention. Their work includes 
staying safe, peer influences and emotional regulation.  

4.19. The team provides an Appropriate Adult service from Monday – Friday’s 9am – 5pm. An 
Appropriate Adult is a designated person who supports and safeguards the rights and welfare of 
children or vulnerable adults during police procedures, as defined under the Police and Criminal 
Evidence Act 1984 (PACE) in England and Wales. It also has responsibility for Missing From Home 
(MFH) conversations, which every child reported missing requires to understand the reasons for 
the missing episode. The team conduct between 70-90 conversations each month, identifying 
interventions to prevent the child going missing again if required. As part of these conversations 
the team ensure the home they are returning to is safe and any concerns are escalated to the 
appropriate service.  

Page 28



16 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

4.20. In June 2025, the team were working with 62 children and 57 families.  

 

Turnaround 

4.21. The Turnaround programme is attached to the Youth Justice team and funded by the Ministry of 
Justice (MOJ) until March 2026. It works with children who are arrested but not charged, when 
there are no other support workers or agencies involved in supporting the child.  

4.22. The programme is based on voluntary engagement and provides children with better skills to 
manage problematic situations by giving advice on the criminal justice process, engaging them in 
positive activities, and other intervention work to address concerns. There is also a focus on 
education, training, and employment.  

4.23. The team has successfully worked with 98 children between January 2023 – March 2025, one 
more than the MOJ’s target of 97. In June 2025, the team were working with 20 Children. Quarterly 
returns are forwarded to the MOJ to build an evidence base and evaluation showing the 
effectiveness of the programme.  

 

School Support Services  

4.24. The School Support team offers a range of services including facilitating Team Around Families, 
hosting half termly solution circles to discuss low level concerns and challenges, providing 
information, advice and signposting, as well as stepping-in as Lead Professionals on complex 
cases and case reviews for families who are deemed ‘stuck’. They strengthen links with key school 
staff when children and young people have in-year transfers, plan and deliver the summer transition 
programme “Be Kind to Your Mind” and bring services to school via their links with the community 
including Holidays Are Fun and Family Hubs.  

4.25. The team work with all schools across five cluster areas of the Borough: Billingham, North Stockton, 
Central Stockton, Thornaby and Ingleby Barwick / Yarm / Eaglescliffe. The number of pupils on roll 
receiving Free School Meal (FSM) is used as an indicator to identify and align resources where 
they are most needed. Thornaby is the cluster with the largest number FSM (49% of pupils on roll), 
followed by North Stockton (44%).  

4.26. When schools have safeguarding concerns they submit a SAFER referral into the Children HUB, 
and there may be multiple SAFER’s made for one child, these are known as contacts. In the year 
1 January 2024 – 31 December 2024 there had been 1,768 contacts in to the Children’s HUB from 
schools, and this was 13.4% of all contacts received. 758 of these contacts converted to a referral 
into the Assessment Team which was 42.8% of the total referrals submitted to the CHUB.  

4.27.  In June 2025 there were 83 active external Early Help Assessments monitored by the cluster 
School Support Advisors and the team are developing a portal to allow all external episodes to be 
recorded by the system to improve reporting and dashboards. 

 

Team Around the School Service 

4.28. The Team Around the School Service (TASS) is a multi-agency approach bringing together 
schools, School Support Advisers, local community groups, health representatives, and other 

Page 29



17 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

partners to offer a comprehensive support system for families. It aims to identify children that need 
support and provide intervention and access to services at the earliest opportunity.  

4.29. This collaboration and partnership approach will ensure that the data and intelligence is shared for 
planning and targeting those children at risk. Therefore, the FOCUS dashboard is to be further 
developed to include additional data identifying pupils with attendance levels less than 95% and 
not known to services, understanding gender versus year group, identifying those entitled to 
FSM/Pupil Premium, Year 6 admissions and their attendance, involvement with other internal 
services including careers and Youth Justice Team, and destination data from post 16. The 
information on the child and the support they receive will therefore ‘follow the child’ and be shared 
with schools/colleges when they transition, building a better picture of the family’s needs. The post 
16 outcomes will be helpful for schools, putting in place the learning and future measures to prevent 
their former pupils becoming Not in Education Employment or Training (NEET).  

4.30. There are several outcomes TASS want to achieve for children which include that they attend 
school and are ready to learn. They want children to receive the right support at the right place and 
time, and communication with school staff improved. Children will therefore feel supported and 
heard, able to ask for help and are part of the plans to support them. Finally, they want to improve 
knowledge, access, and participation in community-based activities.  

4.31. The outcomes of TASS want to achieve for schools are improved attendance, reduced suspension 
and permanent exclusions, and improved communication with pupils and parents/carers. Staff 
should feel empowered, have the training to give them the tools to respond, and feel informed 
about who else can help outside of school.  

4.32. TASS aspiration is to reduce demand and escalation into statutory services, improve the emotional 
wellbeing of children and families, and to see children and young people thrive, achieve, and be in 
employment, education, or training at the end of Year 14. 

4.33. The level of support for schools is a graduated offer, agreed with the individual schools, which 
enables resources to be deployed based upon needs and therefore providing a responsive 
approach. Schools receiving universal support will have a duty advisor available to guide 
professionals, while schools with preventative support will have an advisor based in school for up 
a half day or full day per week, and schools with targeted support have an advisor based in school 
for up to two days per week.  

4.34. The biggest barriers to achieving the purposed outcomes are attendance and communication with 
schools and parents/carers. Raising aspirations of children is also key. The team work with 
individual schools to set their targets for attendance and best practice from schools both within and 
outside the Borough is shared. It is vital to ensure that the importance of attending school and 
education is understood from primary school. Improving attendance is a five-to-ten-year plan, and 
it is acknowledged that Covid has had a significant impact on schools’ academic attainment and 
attendance, which needs to be reversed.  

 

Social Care Assessment and Response  

4.35. Members considered the Statutory Assessments and Outcomes. Assessments are carried out by 
the Social Care Assessment Team when a referral is received from the CHUB regarding concerns 
with safeguarding.  

Page 30



18 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

4.36. The Social Worker has up to 45 days to complete an assessment, however many are completed 
sooner. Outcomes of the assessment include: 

• A Child in Need Plan meaning the family require further support 

• A Child Protection Plan put in place, via a child protection conference 

• Child taken into Local Authority care  

• There may by a “step down” to Early Help service 

• Step-Down into another service 

• No further action 

4.37. When a referral is made under Section 17 of the Children Act 1989, which places a general duty 
on local authorities to safeguard and promote the welfare of children in need within their area, 
parental consent is required. This is because the referral is focused on providing support and 
services to improve outcomes for the child and family. However, if a referral is made under Section 
47 of the Act, which initiates a Child Protection inquiry, consent is not required. This typically occurs 
when there is reasonable cause to suspect that a child is suffering, or is likely to suffer, significant 
harm (e.g. a child presents with unexplained injuries or discloses abuse). In such cases, the local 
authority has a statutory duty to investigate and may proceed without parent consent to ensure the 
child’s immediate safety and protection. Despite this, the Council remain committed to working in 
partnership with parents, wherever possible, promoting transparency, collaboration, and trust 
throughout the process.  

4.38. A weekly average of 71 referrals were received in May - June 2025 and of these only 33.8% 
proceeded to action. The remaining 66.2% of referrals resulted in no further action (NFA) taking 
place, and there are several reasons for this, including that the referral may be considered 
inappropriate for assessment or not meeting the threshold for assessment. This does not 
necessarily mean referring the child/family was not the right course of action, as there may have 
been short term actions or services offered within the 45-day period that resolved the family’s 
issues. Another reason for NFA could be that the parent does not give consent for the assessment 
and/or the social worker has been unable to make contact. Often referrals from the Police come 
through without consent, and the CHUB have not been able to contact parents. However, if there 
is a significant concern then a decision can be made via a strategy meeting to override the 
requirement for consent.  

4.39. The high number of NFA referrals might also be due to the threshold for action being too high, or 
the bar for referral too low as well as a lack of information or poor quality of a referral. Alternatively, 
there might be a misunderstanding between referral expectations and actual outcome.  

4.40. Several steps could be implemented to ensure that referrals from the CHUB are sent to the right 
place, i.e. Early Help rather than the Assessment Team, and these include refining and reviewing 
the referral criteria, giving frequent referrers training, guidance and support in referring, 
implementing triage or screening steps, tracking data weekly for trends and improvements, 
implement training to upskill, and support partners, and increase partnership responsibility. This 
will improve efficiency and ensure families get the right support.  

 

Family Action 

Page 31



19 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

4.41. The national charity Family Action has a Strategic Partnership arrangement with the Council to 
deliver and coordinate a range of support for families. This includes the Family Outreach Service 
which works with the whole family unit providing Early Help support including practical and 
emotional support, family routines, debt management, budgeting, housing and benefit processes, 
accessing grants, building self-confidence, reducing social isolation, and attendance at meetings 
amongst others. They work as “one team” with Family Solutions, Family Hubs, 0-19 services, 
Social Care, and broader Early Help organisations. 

4.42. In the year 1 July 2024 – 30 June 2025 they received 284 whole family referrals, five re-referrals 
of families who had previously accessed support, and referred (“stepped up”) 14 families onto 
Children’s Social Care. The main reasons families are referred to service are for parenting 
issues/support, practical support, housing, and both child and parental mental health/emotional 
wellbeing. The length of time Family Action supports a family can vary dependent on their needs 
but is usually up to a six-month maximum. Support is not withdrawn until the family feel comfortable. 

4.43. Family Action also carry out volunteering and community engagement work. This includes 
recruiting and supporting volunteers in family focused activities at the Family Hubs, and different 
sessions held there, as well as engagement with communities not routinely accessing universal 
services and delivering Holidays Are Fun programmes. Family Action also provide opportunities to 
be involved in community projects with partner organisation such as Stockton Arc, Tees Valley 
Museums, Shape the Play and more.  

4.44. The vision of the Strategic Partnership is to bring together a clear offer of support from across the 
system, avoiding duplication, and ensuring that the right guidance and support is offered without 
having to meet eligibility levels, being referred to different services, and long waiting times. It also 
aims to offer a range of support to help reduce inequalities in child development and wellbeing as 
well as strengthen community resilience. The partnership allows flexibility in the delivery of the 
support to respond to needs and demands. 

4.45. Due to being a charity, Family Action has access to funding that the Council cannot apply for. They 
also had connections with the wider community therefore seek out other support opportunities for 
the families they work with. The length of the partnership contract, 5 years starting in 2022 with a 
5-year extension period, means that they can deliver change in services.   

4.46. Being a strategic partner, they have shared information and recording systems with the Council, 
and this has made a huge difference when working with families. Information gathered on the family 
is kept with them when they move from different services and Family Action can step up families 
to Social Care, and families are stepped down to the service.   

4.47. The Strategic Partnership has also led to a mutually agreed and reviewed risk register, a focus on 
continuous improvement planning and implementation including a joint auditing process, and 
collaborative planning of jointly aligned initiatives. It is believed that it has generated a social value 
of £72,000 in 2024/25 as well as embedded a smoother transition for families across the Early Help 
system.   

Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust 0 – 19 Services  

4.48. Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust (HDFT) provided 0 – 19 services within Stockton-on-
Tees which includes support to children, young people and families comprising of perinatal care 
and mental health care, parent support, safe sleep, child development, and healthy lifestyle 

Page 32



20 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

promotion. They provide this via Health Visitors, School Nursing, and Public Health initiatives such 
as Growing well Growing Healthy. In addition, they provided specialist support and support with 
transition to primary school, secondary school, and adulthood.  

4.49. The service referred 252 families of 0–5-year-olds to targeted single agency support and 278 
families of 0–5-year-olds to multi-agency support. For families of 5–19-year-olds, they were 
referring 90 to targeted single agency support and 42 to multi-agency support (figures reported in 
September 2025).  

4.50. The service provides programmes from the Hubs, and Health Visitors signpost new and expectant 
parents to their local Hub. HDFT have a good working relationship with the Family Hubs. The 0 -
19 services are co-located across all Family Hubs and this is really valued for strengthening 
integrated working. Billingham Hub is identified by staff as having particularly strong integrated 
working and learning from this will be replicated across all areas.   

4.51. HDFT believe that Stockton-on-Tees is an inclusive area to work with, they have positive working 
relationships with Family Action and feel included in the Team Around the Family meetings when 
invited. They also felt that the concept of SMART Teams, a multi-agency approach to triaging and 
providing Early Help, promoted partnership working.  

4.52. However, duplication between the HDFT service and Family Hub offer has been highlighted, and 
a greater understanding of the different services along with a more joined up approach will be 
beneficial. HDFT felt there is scope for them to lead more on services and support for a family. 
There are also times when HDFT feel services are working in silo’s helping the same family and 
communication along with access to information systems between services could be improved.   

4.53. HDFT also highlighted that some of their programmes only receive short term funding, and 
therefore they are unable to offer support that has proven to be beneficial. This is a national, rather 
than regional issue.  

PiTstop Cleveland Police 

4.54. PitStop is a multi-agency early intervention in Stockton-on-Tees, chaired by the Police, designed 
to share information across partners to ensure that need, harm and possible risk is identified and 
support provided to families. Partners include: 

• Children’s Social Care 

• Adult Safeguarding Team 

• Early Help 

• Cleveland Police 

• Health – HDFT 0 – 19 Integrated Public Health Nursing 

• Education 

• Housing – Homeless Solutions 

• Change Grow Live 

• Youth Justice 

• Harbour 

4.55. It aims to reduce the demand on CHUB by diverting Police referrals that are screened and 
assessed as not meeting the Social Care threshold, but there is still a concern, to PiTstop. 

Page 33



21 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Proportional and relevant information is then shared with the most relevant partner to provide 
support, thereby leading to better informed decisions to ensure earlier and/or preventative 
interventions are put in place. Cases considered for PiTstop can include a child concern, a 
vulnerable adult, or domestic abuse, and are Medium Risk or Standard with Children but not open 
to Social Care. Where the cases are open to Social Care, the information is shared directly with 
them. Pooled knowledge from safeguarding partners help to identify hidden need, harm, and risk, 
and hidden victims are identified through third-party reporting.  

4.56. Referrals into PiTstop decrease during school holidays and increase when schools return, and it is 
believed that this is due to the school having oversight of the families. Information between the 
police and schools has improved since the initiative started. Schools are now able to monitor and 
support families when they are informed by the police of incidents regarding anti-social behaviour, 
neighbourhood disputes etc., ensuring they are receiving support as early as possible and avoiding 
escalation in the support that a family needs.  

4.57. There is no correlation between the calls received and deprivation and referrals are coming from 
all areas of the Borough.   

4.58. The number of police referrals to the CHUB since PiTstop started operating in March 2024 has 
decreased by 25.90%, showing that it is working to decrease pressure on the CHUB. The number 
of re-referrals into PiTstop was low, showing that the service is working to ensure families are 
receiving the interventions and support they need.  

Catalyst 

4.59. Catalyst is a strategic infrastructure organisation for the voluntary, community and social enterprise 
(VCSE) sector in Stockton-on-Tees. It has a vision of a coherent and single sector, working 
together in partnership with public bodies and private businesses to deliver services to communities 
in the Borough and Tees Valley. Catalyst provides set up and development advice, funding support, 
training, and disburse funding. They circulate e-bulletins, have social media presence, hold forums 
and networking events for the sector, offer one-to-one support, and hold an annual conference.  

4.60. They believe that partnership working is strong in Stockton-on-Tees and there are both formal and 
informal partnerships in place. There is a strong reputation for collaboration, and the sector feels 
supported.   

4.61. Catalyst represents the sector on boards and groups across the borough including Team Stockton, 
Family First Partnership Board, Child Poverty Network, Teeswide Safeguarding Adults Board and 
many more. They also encourage VCSE organisations and individuals who are delivering services 
on the ground to join different meetings and working groups to ensure their voices are heard.  

4.62. Examples of successful partnership working highlighted include:  

• Youth United Stockton Alliance – a collective of key partners who deliver youth provision to support the 
sustainability of high-quality open access youth provision as well as ensuring that there are targeted 
and focused interventions to support children and young people.  

• Community Mental Health Transformation (Wellbeing Hub) – a one-stop shop for advice, guidance, and 
support relating to any wellbeing issues which had over 1,000 walk-ins in the first month of opening 

• Warm Welcome – weekly social events which evolved from the warm spaces project following the 
recognition that this type of event is required year-round and not just in the winter months 

Page 34



22 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

• Holidays Are Fun (HAF) project – providing activities for children and young people during school 
holidays. While Catalyst no longer delivers the project, they still have involvement  

• Sport England – working with Tees Active to access Sports England funding 

4.63. The VCSE sector has experience and expertise to deliver a wide range of services and should not 
be seen as a reduced offer. However, the real cost of delivery should be considered when 
commissioning and/or partnering with the sector, including administrative and utilities costs. 
Qualitive outcomes of services should be valued as much as quantitative outcomes and it should 
be given realistic timescales when information is requested from the sector.   

4.64. The Stockton Information Directory has been highlighted by Catalyst as an area for improvement, 
ensuring that it is accessible and the information on the directory relevant. They also highlighted 
developing a VCSE Chater as well as relaunching the Senior Leaders Forum to create clear 
pathways to report back from the different groups and boards. Consultation with the sector needs 
to be carried out to confirm that a Forum is something that it wants and then shape it as a space 
for the sector with speakers from partners invited to attend. 

 

Children and Young People Partnership Workshops 

4.65. Four workshops have been held with partners, which aimed to co-produce an Early Help Strategy. 
Members of the Committee attended the third workshop, that focused on the priorities for Early 
Help and the self-assessment tool taken from the Department for Education (DfE) Early Help 
Systems Guide, and the fourth workshop that focussed on action planning. 

4.66. There was a clear theme from the third workshop that the issues within Early Help not only lie with 
governance but also infrastructure and there is a need to have joint data sharing protocols in place. 
Partners can be working with the same families but doing so in silo and therefore need to work 
smarter with a shared platform for data, shared responsibilities, and shared evaluations. This will 
ensure more effective use of resources across the partnership.    

4.67. It was suggested that the Family First model be built on with one assessment, regardless of this 
being completed by the Local Authority or a partner, to promote the family telling their story once 
and the assessment can be built upon if a higher tier of invention is required. This will then build 
one family plan, to be used by all partners for each family. The need for joint training across 
partners was highlighted, along with using the same language between services. The workshop 
discussed working within the principles of a whole family approach to ensure all the children in a 
family are supported and therefore do not require the same help and support as their siblings at a 
later date. Utilising Artificial Intelligence to support this activity was also discussed.   

4.68. Effective coordination and communication for promoting information is a key area as was 
measuring how useful the information is for families, rather than just how many people were 
accessing the information. There are lots of people working in the community, whether it be paid 
work or in a voluntary capacity e.g. leading social activities and sporting clubs, and it would be 
useful for them to have information on services available to signpost to when needed.  

4.69. At the fourth workshop partners identified the main priorities of governance, data, communication, 
and schools and agreed tangible actions to reform these. Actions included: 

• Governance: establishing good representation on boards, terms of references, and building 
relationships with partners 

Page 35



23 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

• Data: designing multi-agency data impact assessment, a combined privacy notice, and data sharing 
system, as well as undertaking a mapping exercise to understand the data sets produced 

• Communication: simplifying the online offer for both families and professionals, relaunching the offer, 
and carrying out training across partners 

• Schools: carrying out training across schools and working with Ofsted regarding exclusions.    

4.70. The key officers and partners that need to be involved have been identified and those who attended 
the workshop have agreed responsibility for taking the actions forward. 

 

Family and User Feedback 

4.71. The Committee wished to gain an understanding of how accessible Early Help services are, how 
clear the offer is for families, how easy the system is to navigate, and are families getting the right 
support at the right time.  

 

Focus Groups 

4.72. A focus group of Billingham Hub service users was held in August 2025, which included parents 
who have completed the EPEC and Nurturing courses, baby courses, and SEND support groups. 
A Family Action parent volunteer also attended the focus group. The purpose of the focus group 
was to understand if families are getting the right support at the right time, if services are accessible, 
and how clear the Early Help offer is, both in person and online.  

4.73. Several parents had been signposted by their Health Visitor and believe they had good support 
from the Health Visitor. Other parents, however, were signposted by Children and Adolescent 
Mental Health Service (CAMHS), by friends and family, or already knew about the service from 
having older children. Two parents noted that that the Family Hub Worker had offered to visit them 
in their home after making first contact to encourage them into the Hub, and a Family Hub Home 
Visit for all new parents was suggested. It is felt that this needed to be timed right, and a three-
month visit is felt to be the right time to ensure that the parent is not overwhelmed but before they 
feel isolated. All the parents felt it is daunting when first attending the Family Hub but are 
encouraged by staff to come back. A “buddy” or “Hub Champion”, whereby parent volunteers chat 
to new parents when they first attend will help with making parents feel welcome.  

4.74. The staff at the Family Hub were praised, being approachable and offering lots of support, and one 
parent said that staff have called her on regular occasions when they know she has been 
struggling. Events at the Hub were also praised, as was the Home Safety course, and it is felt that 
this course should be advertised for expectant parents who will not only benefit from the knowledge 
given during the course but also by coming into the Family Hub and getting to know the services 
and courses on offer.  

4.75. Parents feel that services like Red Balloons, an adult mental health charity which held sessions 
from the Hubs for the parents including walks and talks, are really important. Getting midwives 
back in the Hub is seen as a benefit to the service, and parents would also like to see the Health 
Visitors in the Hubs more. Parents are happy with the Family Action volunteers but feel Family 
Action need to be present in the Hub and consistent in their approach. A new member of staff has 
been employed by Family Action which should help with this. 

Page 36



24 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

4.76. It is felt that there is not enough information readily available for families with SEND and parents 
need to seek out help rather than being signposted to the Hubs and Early Help. It is also felt that 
dads are missing from the Family Hub offer, as they need support and to talk to other dads too. A 
dads stay and play session is suggested along with linking up to Andy’s Men Clubs (which is offered 
at Redhill Family Hub) and Men Sheds.  

4.77. Parents are using the Facebook page to find out what is happening and other generic information. 
More issue-based information, with links to professional services will be useful on Facebook. A 
“meet the team” area on the Facebook page/online will also be helpful.  

 

Early Help Services Feedback 

4.78. The Early Help Service note that feedback they receive is positive, with service users stating how 
helpful the support and advice has been. Some of the comments highlighted to members from the 
service include: 

• “She was very friendly and a pleasure to work with, she made us feel relaxed in a difficult situation” 
(from a family member) 

• “We appreciate the support and empathy you have shown us through the pregnancy and birth of our 
gorgeous little girl. You have made things easier for use and all we want to say is thank you so much. 
We will miss you” (from a parent) 

• “He is always very welcoming and kind to everyone. He is brilliant with the children when we come in to 
use the Family Hub” (from a mum) 

• “You make me happy by coming to see me every 2 weeks, you are the best ever.” (from a child) 

• “The Family Group Conference is beneficial and positive. It gives you a neutral place to meet and you 
can be open and honest and say what you feel.” (from a parent) 

• “My son and I had a great relationship with our Turnaround worker. If we had a problem, we knew we 
could contact her at anytime” 

• “These sessions have really helped me turn my life around and put me back on track.” (from a young 
person)  

4.79. A case study was also presented from the perspective of a baby whose family were supported by 
a Family Group Conference: 

“When my mummy was having a hard time, my auntie – my mummy’s sister – took me in and started looking 
after me. She already has children of her own but she made space in her heart and home for me too. My 
daddy’s family and other relatives from my mummy’s side wanted to be part of my life as well. But they hadn’t 
met each other before I was born, and there were some mixed messages that made things a bit 
uncomfortable. The Family Group Conference team helped everyone come together. They helped my 
families talk openly and honestly about what was best for me. Together, they made a plan so I could spend 
time with all the people who love me. Now, I get to see my daddy’s family, and my other relatives from 
mummy’s side help my auntie take care of me. Both my mummy and daddy also spend time with me, with 
family members there to help. I’m surrounded by lots of people who care about me and want me to feel safe 
and loved.” 

 

Stockton Parent Carer Forum 

Page 37



25 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

4.80. Views were sought from the Stockton Parent Carer Forum regarding their experience of the Early 
Help offer, how they think partnerships are working, and if they feel involved in the planning of Early 
Help and services are co-produced. The Forum is a volunteer service representing parents and 
carers of children with Special Educational Needs and/or Disability (SEND) within Stockton-on-
Tees, being the recognised voice of the 2,000 families who are members of the Forum. While there 
were only 19 responses, the Forum felt it reflected the opinion they have heard from parents and 
carers over the last four years.  

4.81. The response received from the members of Stockton Parent Carer Forum was negative with the 
majority stating that the Early Help offer is poor and they are not involved in the planning of Early 
Help. Experiences were reported of professionals not understanding the needs of SEND, not 
offering adequate support, and not offering support early enough. The report also commented that 
the service often looks via a safeguarding lens rather than a specific SEND ‘meeting needs’ lens.  

4.82. Areas of improvement highlighted include better and purposeful communication, not only between 
families and the service but also between services, building relationships, accountability, trust, and 
transparency. Other areas for improvement highlighted were training for professionals on SEND, 
and more practical support such as, but not limited to, help to understand diagnosis, and following 
through with actions that will have a positive impact on families.  

4.83. However, it is acknowledged that Stockton Parent Carer Forum are now involved with the Families 
First Partnership reforms, attending the meetings and board where these are being discussed and 
shaping their implementation. They therefore recognise that the partnership is wanting to do better 
for families and while SEND is a smaller part of the system it is important and needs its own 
understanding.  

 

Learning from other Local Authorities 

4.84. Officers fed back to the Committee key learning from visits to two Ofsted Outstanding rated Local 
Authorities, Lincolnshire County Council and Sunderland City Council, who’s Early Help delivery 
models prioritise shared responsibility, partnership working, and system-wide cultural change.  

4.85. Lincolnshire is a Pathfinder Authority, with Early Help firmly rooted in collaboration and a shared 
responsibility across all professionals working with children and families. They define Early Help 
as any action that supports children, young people, and families to achieve their potential by 
preventing difficulties from arising and preventing issues from escalating further. The key features 
of their approach are: 

• Shared Responsibility: professionals in all sectors are expected to contribute to Early Help 

• Front-Loaded Support: external agencies are empowered to act as lead practitioners  

• Practical Tools: Local Authority provides assessments, “Team Around the Family” frameworks, and 
guidance to enable partners to deliver Early Help confidently 

• Capacity Building: Significant investment in training external partners 

4.86. As a result, 80% of Early Help delivery in Lincolnshire is provided by external partners. This is a 
cultural shift achieved over a decade, reducing reliance on local authority services, achieved 
through sustained work with partners and consistent reinforcement that Early Help is everyone’s 
responsibility.  

Page 38



26 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

4.87. Sunderland’s Together for Children model also prioritises early identification and partnership-led 
support, emphasising supporting families at the earliest opportunity. The key features are: 

• Partnership Conversations: external professions (e.g. schools, health visitors, voluntary sector) are 
supported to take an active role in delivering Early Help 

• Holistic approach: collaborative discussions to identify families needs and how to meet these  

• Promoting self-help: online tools empower families to seek support independently  

• Clear Gateways: Universal professionals (e.g. school) coordinates support as lead professionals, 
families do not self-refer 

4.88. Sunderland has recently piloted a duty system within its locality teams, with dedicated teams 
operating reduced caseloads. The model has structured timelines of: 

• Day 5: Assessment, direct work, home visit, and family network meeting  

• Day 10: Decision on appropriate support level 

4.89. In the first quarter the pilot has resulted in 62% of cases signposted to universal support and “no 
further action”, 20% remaining in Early Help services, and overall, two-thirds of cases exiting the 
Early Help system, reducing demand on the local authority and strengthening partnership 
ownership.   

4.90. The visits revealed several common themes across both local authorities including that Early 
Help can be a shared responsibility with external partners, shifting the burden away from the local 
authority alone, and embedding expectations across partners. They also invested in training, 
tools, and clear framework to equip partners to confidently lead on cases. They have strong 
gateways and thresholds, so families are supported through universal community-based services 
first. These are long-term cultural changes; however, they have shown that increasing external 
delivery has reduced pressure on statutory and targeted services, allowing the local authority to 
focus on the most complex cases, and ultimately improves outcomes for families.  

 

5.0  Conclusion 
 

5.1. The Families First Partnership reforms are designed to promote partnership working to ensure that 
families receive the support and protection they need, as well as focusing on the importance of 
family networks in decision-making to achieve the best outcomes for families and children. It is 
recognised that partners are delivering a wide range of services to families, building up relationship 
with them and, therefore, given the right support and resources, are best placed to support a family 
rather than referring to Social Care for an assessment. While statutory interventions and 
protections will remain with and be provided by the Council, increased partnership working, with 
Early Help being ‘everyone’s business’, will be an improved offer for families ensuring they are 
receiving the right support earlier. It will also relieve some pressure from social care, so that they 
are more able to concentrate on providing targeted and complex support.   

5.2. The Committee’s review has highlighted the strengths and challenges of current partnership 
working in Early Help across Stockton-on-Tees. The Borough demonstrates a strong commitment 
to early intervention through a wide range of services and partnerships with health, police, 

Page 39



27 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

education, and VCSE organisations. These services are working collaboratively to support families, 
helping to prevent escalation into statutory services and improving outcomes for children and 
young people.  

5.3. Evidence gathered throughout the review from partners and service users shows that families value 
the support they receive. Multi-agency approaches like PiTstop and Team Around the School have 
proven effective in reducing demand on statutory services and promoting early intervention. 
Feedback also reinforces the importance of trusted relationships, co-location of services, and 
flexible support models that adapt to the changing needs of families.  

5.4. However, the review also identified areas for improvement, particularly around inconsistencies in 
communication, data sharing, service duplication, and the clarity of the Early Help offer for families 
and professionals. The high rate of No Further Action following statutory assessments suggests 
that referrals may not always be appropriately triaged, and that professionals need more 
confidence and clarity in navigating the Early Help system.  

5.5. The need for more inclusive and better coordinated support, particularly for those with SEND, has 
also been highlighted. There has been calls for improved signposting, more targeted programmes, 
and greater involvement in service planning.  

5.6. The Committee recognises the importance of learning from other Local Authorities where cultural 
change and shared responsibility have significantly enhanced Early Help delivery. These models 
demonstrate that empowering external partners to lead on Early Help, supported by clear 
frameworks and training, can reduce pressure on statutory services and improve outcomes for 
families. Stockton-on-Tees has already begun this journey and continued investment in partnership 
development will be key to sustaining progress.  

5.7. The review has, therefore, provided a comprehensive understanding of the Early Help landscape 
in Stockton-on-Tees. The review’s recommendations focus on strengthening governance 
structures, improving communication and accessibility of services, and investing in joint training 
and shared system. By embedding the principle of shared responsibility across partners and 
continuing to co-produce strategies with families and partners, including the VCSE sector, 
Stockton-on-Tees can build a more integrated and responsive Early Help system that ensures 
children and families receive the right support at the right time. This will contribute to the broader 
goals of fostering resilient communities and giving children the best possible start in life.   

 

Recommendations 

5.4 The Committee recommends that:  

1. A culture of shared responsibilities across the partnership is promoted to ensure that the 
principle of Early Help being “everyone’s business” is embedded within schools, health, and 
the voluntary sector.  

2. The re-design of the front door to Children’s Services embeds an Early Help focus, enabling 
timely outcomes and ensuring families are able to access the right support at the right time.  

3. Advice and training are developed for schools and other partners referring to the Children’s 
Hub, to ensure families who could be better supported by Early Help services are forwarded 
to the most appropriate service for help and reduce demand on the front door. 

Page 40



28 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

4. A programme of training, tools and professional guidance is developed to support non-local 
authority practitioners in holding lead professional roles with children and families. 

5. The design of a multi-agency data impact assessment, combined privacy notice, and data 
sharing systems to ensure effective and timely communication between the Council and its 
partners is supported. 

6. A robust data collection system is established to measure partnership delivery of Early Help 
services. 

7. The updated online offer is relaunched, promoting it to partners, schools, and residents. Self-
navigation tools should also be introduced to empower families to access early, universal 
support without needing formal referral. 

8. Partners are encouraged to utilise Family Hubs, basing and/or providing services in the 
venues where appropriate to ensure that these are accessible to children and families. 

9. Further support is provided for partners to understand the needs of SEND families to enable 
them to offer appropriate Early Help service to these families. 

 

  

Page 41



2 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Appendix 1 
 

 

  
What a Family Hub offers in Stockton 

 

P
age 42



2 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Glossary of Terms 
 

AI Artificial Intelligence 

CAMHS Children and Adolescent Mental Health Service  

CHUB Children’s Hub 

DfE Department for Education 

EPEC Empowering Parents Empowering Communities  

FFPP Families First Partnership Programme 

FGC Family Group Conferencing 

FGDM Family Group Decision Making 

FHLP Family Help Lead Practitioner  

FSM  Free School Meals 

HDFT Harrogate and District Foundation Trust 

IFD Integrated Front Door 

MFH Missing From Home 

MoJ Ministry of Justice 

NEET Not in Education Employment or Training 

NFA No Further Action 

PACE Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 

SEND Special Educational Needs and Disability 

SPOC Single Point of Contact  

TAF Team Around the Family 

TASS Team Around the School Service 

VCSE Voluntary, Community, and Social Enterprise 

 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 44



People Select Committee – Work Programme 2025- 2026 

 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Date (4pm unless 
stated) 

 

Topic Attendance 
 

Monday 7 April 
2025 

Monitoring: Action Plan Scrutiny 
Review of Disabled Facilities Grant  
 
 

Sam Dixon 
 
 

Monday 12 May 
2025 

Monitoring: Progress Update – 
Scrutiny Review of Cost of Living 
Response 
 
Scrutiny Review of Partnership 
Working in Early Help 

• (Draft) Scope and Project Plan 

• Background Presentation 
 
 

Haleem Ghafoor  
 
 
 
 
Kellie Wigley & Aishah 
Waite 

Monday 2 June 
2025 

Scrutiny Review of Partnership 
Working in Early Help 

• Early Help & Family Hubs 
 

Kellie Wigley & Aishah 
Waite 
Hazel Clark and John 
Lathaem 
 

Monday 7 July 
2025 

Scrutiny Review of Partnership 
Working in Early Help 

• Social Care 

• School Support 
 

John Lathaem & Aishah 
Waite 
Louise Nixon 
Mandie Rowlands 
 

Monday 8 
September 2025 

Scrutiny Review of Partnership 
Working in Early Help 

• PITSTOP 

• HDFT 

• Family Action 
 

Kellie Wigley & Aishah 
Waite 
Cheryl Hall 
Sarah Massiter 
Emma Crawford 

Monday 6 October 
2025 

Scrutiny Review of Partnership 
Working in Early Help 

• Catalyst  

• Best practice from other Local 
Authorities  

• Family First Reforms 
 

 
 
Lucy Owens 
Hazel Clark, Aishah Waite & 
Jane Smith  
 
 

Monday 3 
November 2025 

 

Monitoring: Progress Update – 
Scrutiny Review of Cost of Living 
Response 
 
Monitoring: Initial Progress Update –  
Scrutiny Review of Disabled Facility 
Grant 
 

Rebecca Saunders-
Thompson TBC 
 
 
Sam Dixon 
 

Page 45

Agenda Item 6



People Select Committee – Work Programme 2025- 2026 

 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Date (4pm unless 
stated) 

 

Topic Attendance 
 

Monday 3 
November 2025 

(informal) 

Scrutiny Review of Partnership 
Working in Early Help 

• Summary of Evidence / Draft 
Recommendations  

Kellie Wigley & Aishah 
Waite 

Monday 8 
December 2025 

 

Scrutiny Review of Partnership 
Working in Early Help – Final Report 
 

Kellie Wigley & Aishah 
Waite 

Monday 5 January 
2026 

Scrutiny Review of Post 16 Provision 

• (Draft) Scope and Project Plan 

• Background Presentation 
 

Vanessa Housley & Luke 
McGurn 

Monday 2 
February 2026 

 
 

Monitoring: Action Plan Scrutiny 
Review of Partnership Working in Early 
Help TBC 
 
Scrutiny Review of Post 16 Provision 

• Evidence Gathering 
 

Kellie Wigley & Aishah 
Waite  
 
 
Vanessa Housley & Luke 
McGurn 
 

Monday 2 March 
2026 

 

Scrutiny Review of Post 16 Provision 

• Evidence Gathering 
 

Vanessa Housley & Luke 
McGurn 
 

 
 

Page 46


	Agenda
	1 Evacuation Procedure
	4 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Scrutiny Review of Partnership Working in Early Help
	Select Committee – Membership
	Acknowledgements
	Forward
	Original Brief
	1.0 Executive Summary
	Recommendations

	2.0 Introduction
	3.0 Background
	4.0 Evidence
	Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council Early Help Offer
	School Support Services
	Social Care Assessment and Response
	Family Action
	Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust 0 – 19 Services
	PiTstop Cleveland Police
	Catalyst
	Children and Young People Partnership Workshops
	Family and User Feedback
	Learning from other Local Authorities

	5.0  Conclusion
	Recommendations

	Appendix 1
	Glossary of Terms

	6 Chair's Update and Select Committee Work Programme 2025-2026

